THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

**RECEIVED**

JAN 31 2017

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions

SC Court of Appeals

Honorable James R. Barber, III, Thirteenth Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2016-001302

The State,

Respondent

v.

James Damon Lanar White,

Appellant

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

Counsel for Respondent:

Counsel for Appellant:

Honorable Alan Wilson  
J. Benjamin Aplin  
PO Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211

William G. Yarborough, III  
522 N. Church Street  
Greenville, SC 29601

Allen Fretwell, Assistant Solicitor  
Thirteenth Judicial Circuit  
305 E. North Street  
Greenville, SC 29601

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the court err in its discretion by denying appellant's motion to suppress evidence, when the evidence was obtained through a wrongful search and seizure of cellphones where the consent to search the cellphones was only given by Appellant after Appellant had been threatened with arrest for unrelated acts?
2. Did the court err in failing to exclude from evidence photographs which were not relevant to the case, and whose prejudicial effect vastly outweighed any probative value they offered?
3. Did the trial court err in its discretion when it denied Appellant's motion for a directed verdict when the State failed to provide direct evidence or substantial circumstantial evidence which tended to prove the guilt of Appellant?

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On January 20, 2014 at approximately 11:30 p.m., an armed African-American male robbed the Olive Garden Italian Restaurant located at 3290 N. Pleasantburg Drive in Greenville, South Carolina. The robber entered through the restaurant's front doors and made his way through the closed restaurant and came up upon employees Terrell Pugh and Appellant washing dishes. The robber ordered Appellant and Pugh to get on the ground. (Trial Transcript, p. 295, lines 8-14). The robber then encountered the night manager, Aaron Kretzschmar, in the hallway on the way to the restaurant's office. Kretzschmar was struck in the head before being led to the office to open the safe. (Tr. Trans., p. 185, line 24-p. 186, line 11). The robber continued threatening and assaulting Kretzschmar while he opened the safe and emptied an indiscernible amount of the safe's \$3,500 into a plastic bag. (Tr. Trans., p. 187, line 23-p. 188, line 1). The robber exited through the front doors, leaving stray dollar bills in various amounts strewn throughout the restaurant and outdoors. (Tr. Trans., p. 325, lines 6-9). Kretzschmar remained in the office until police arrived.

Responding officers found a rock near the restaurant's entrance and a broken front door window. A rag was also found in the doorway. (Tr. Trans., p. 325, lines 10-12, 16-18). At the back of the restaurant, police found Pugh and Appellant still on the ground in the fetal position with their hands covering their heads. (Tr. Trans, p. 326, line 22-p. 327, line 6).

Kretzschmar, Pugh and Appellant all gave the description of the robber as an African American male wearing a hooded brown and black camouflage sweatshirt. Police also requested a statement from Damion Riley, the last employee to leave the restaurant

before the robbery. Riley stated that upon leaving before the robbery, a rag had not been in the doorway and the door had closed behind him. (Tr. Trans., p. 262, lines 2-4).

On January 22, 2014, Appellant arrived at the local law enforcement center to give a statement on the robbery. When he arrived, Appellant was initially questioned about whether he had driven himself to the station with a suspended license. (Mot. Sup. Trans., p. 80, lines 4-24). After this questioning, Appellant wrote a statement and handed over two cellphones to the police to search. (Mot. Sup. Trans., p. 20, lines 12-17, p. 21, line 20-p. 22, line 8). Appellant was subsequently arrested for driving under suspension. (Mot. Sup. Trans., p. 77, lines 10-14). Police searched the two phones and found pictures of Co-defendant Gadsden holding a large amount of cash. Appellant moved to suppress these photographs and all evidence found on the two cellphones. (Appellant's Motion to Suppress). The court heard Appellant's motion on April 11, 2016. The court denied Appellant's motion to suppress the evidence found in the two cellphones. (Order on Motion to Suppress).

At trial, Appellant again objected to the admission of the photographs found in the two cellphones. (Tr. Transcript, p. 447, lines 6-18, page 517, lines 1-6). Appellant argued that the photographs were being introduced to prejudice the jury. (Tr. Trans., p. 446, line 23 – p. 447, line 4). The court allowed the evidence to be admitted subject to Appellant's previous objections. (Tr. Trans., p. 517, lines 1-6). Appellant was found guilty of armed robbery, conspiracy to commit armed robbery, and two counts of kidnapping. (Tr. Trans., p. 810, line 20 – p. 811, line 3).

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

“[The Court of Appeals] review[s] factual findings underlying a motion to suppress for clear error and legal determinations *de novo*.” *United States v. Gray*, 491 F.3d 138, 143–44 (4th Cir. 2007) (citing *Ornelas v. United States*, 517 U.S. 690, 699 (1996)). Generally, the burden of proof is on a defendant who seeks to suppress the evidence. *United States v. Dickerson*, 655 F.2d 559, 561 (4th Cir. 1981). Once the defendant establishes a basis for his motion to suppress, the burden shifts to the government to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the challenged evidence is admissible. *Colorado v. Connelly*, 479 U.S. 157, 168 (1986); *United States v. Matlock*, 415 U.S. 164, 178 (1974).

A warrantless search violates the Fourth Amendment if the Government cannot prove that it falls under an established exception to the warrant requirement. *Katz v. United States*, 389 U.S. 347, 357 (1967). A suspect’s voluntariness must be determined by the totality of the circumstances when voluntary consent is used to justify a warrantless search. *Schneckloth v. Bustamonte*, 412 U.S. 218, 218 (1973). A suspect’s consent to search property he owns or controls may not be deemed voluntary consent if officers engage in any type of hostile, coercive or intimidating behavior. *Schneckloth*, 412 U.S. at 233. Unless an exception to the warrant and probable cause requirements applies, “[e]vidence seized in violation of the Fourth Amendment is subject to suppression under the exclusionary rule . . . the overarching purpose of which is ‘to deter future unlawful police conduct.’” *United States v. Andrews*, 577 F.3d 231, 235 (4th Cir.2009) (quoting *United States v. Calandra*, 414 U.S. 338, 347–48 (1974)).

The South Carolina Rules of Evidence state that irrelevant evidence is inadmissible. See Rule 402, SCRE. In *State v. Wiles*, the South Carolina Supreme Court stated, “Evidence

is relevant and admissible if it tends to establish or make more or less probable the matter in controversy.” 383 S.C. 151, 157-58, 679 S.E.2d 172, 175-76 (2009) (citing Rule 401, SCRE and Rule 402, SCRE). Where the evidence is shown to be relevant, the evidence must be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. See Rule 403, SCRE. Unfair prejudice means an undue tendency to suggest decision on an improper basis. *State v. Stokes*, 381 S.C. 390, 673 S.E.2d 434 (2009).

When the State fails to produce substantial circumstantial evidence that a defendant committed a particular crime, the defendant is entitled to a directed verdict. *State v. Rothschild*, 351 S.C. 238, 243, 569 S.E.2d 346, 348 (2002). A circuit judge should grant a directed verdict motion when the evidence merely raises a suspicion the accused is guilty. *State v. Schrock*, 283 S.C. 129, 132, 322 S.E.2d 450, 451-52 (1984). The court shall direct a verdict in Appellant’s favor if there is a failure of competent evidence tending to prove the charge in the indictment. Rule 19(a), SCRCrimP.

## ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ITS DISCRETION BY DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE, WHEN THE EVIDENCE WAS OBTAINED THROUGH A WRONGFUL SEARCH AND SEIZURE OF CELLPHONES WHEN THE CONSENT TO SEARCH THE CELLPHONES WAS INVOLUNTARILY GIVEN BY APPELLANT AFTER APPELLANT HAD BEEN THREATENED WITH ARREST FOR UNRELATED ACTS.

The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution provides protection against unreasonable searches and seizures. U.S. Const. amend. IV. Searches absent a warrant based upon probable cause are *per se* unreasonable and are limited to defined exceptions. *Schneckloth v. Bustamonte*, 412 U.S. 218, 219 (1973). Consent to search is one exception to the warrant and probable cause requirement; however, the consent is invalid if it is involuntarily given. *Id.* at 222. "Whether the consent to search was voluntary or the product of duress or coercion, express or implied, is a question of fact to be determined from the 'totality of the circumstances.'" *State v. Wallace*, 269 S.C. 547, 550, 238 S.E.2d 675, 676 (1977) (citing *Schneckloth v. Bustamonte*, 412 U.S. 218 (1973)). The totality of the circumstances analysis turns on the characteristics of the accused and the manner of the questioning. *Bustamonte*, 412 U.S. at 226. Moreover, characteristics of the accused include the vulnerable subjective state of the consenter. *Id.* at 228. The prosecution carries the burden of proving that the consent to search was voluntarily made. *Id.* at 222.

In the present case, Appellant did not voluntarily give consent to search the cellphones in his possession. On January 22, 2014, police requested Appellant to come to the law enforcement center for an interview regarding the robbery. (Mot. Sup. Trans., p. 14, lines 15-20). However, Investigators Ricky Motes and David Weiner knew that Appellant's driver's license had been suspended when they requested he come down to the

LEC. The investigators first asked Appellant how he traveled to the LEC. Hoping to catch him in a lie, the investigators informed Appellant that they have cameras in the parking lot and knew he had been driving. (Mot. Sup. Trans., p. 80, lines 4-24). Appellant was arrested for driving under suspension (DUS) after the interview. (Mot. Sup. Trans., p. 77, lines 10-14).

At the time of the interview, investigators had only a scintilla of evidence, if any, that the robbery had been an inside job. Consequently, the investigators did not have a warrant to search Appellant's home or car. It is therefore clear that investigators lured Appellant to the LEC under the pretense that Appellant would merely be giving a formal witness statement, to arrest him for DUS and search his person incident to arrest for evidence to obtain a warrant. Weiner admitted at the motion to suppress evidence hearing that he first questioned Appellant about whether he drove to the LEC with a suspended license, making the investigators' primary goal clear. Consequently, the interview was planned to conjure a way for police to fish for evidence so that they could obtain probable cause for a warrant and search further.

The United States Supreme Court has found consent to search involuntary when that consent was induced by deceptive practices by law enforcement that were presented as requests for submission to a lawful authority. *Bustamonte*, 412 U.S. at 233 (citing *Bumper v. North Carolina*, 391 U.S. 543 (1968); *Johnson v. United States*, 333 U.S. 10 (1948); *Amos v. United States*, 255 U.S. 313 (1921)). In *Bumper*, police searched a woman's house without a warrant after gaining her consent by informing her that they had obtained a warrant to search. 391 U.S. at 550. The Supreme Court held the woman's consent invalid because "[w]hen a law enforcement officer claims authority to search a

home under a warrant, he announces in effect that the occupant has no right to resist the search.” *Id.* at 548.

Although some of the facts in *Bumper* are distinguishable from the case at hand, the spirit of the Court’s reasoning is applicable to Appellant’s case. The investigators requested that Appellant come to the station under the guise that the encounter would be a routine formal witness statement. Once Appellant realized that this pretense was part of a grander plan, he felt refusing consent to search would be futile. He believed that if police had the authority to trick and lure him to the LEC, then police must have authority to search his phones whether or not he gave them consent.

Furthermore, the investigators made Appellant feel entrapped and vulnerable, and thus he did not feel that he was free to leave or deny consent to search the phones. Seizure or detainment is a factor considered in determining whether consent to search is voluntary. *Bustamonte*, 412 U.S. at 226. A seizure occurs when a reasonable man in Appellant’s position would not feel that he was free to leave. *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 16 (1968). In the present case, a reasonable person would not have felt free to leave in Appellant’s situation because the investigators immediately confronted Appellant about driving with a suspended license.

Coupled with all these factors, Appellant felt he was at the complete mercy of police and consequently, consented to a polygraph exam. This feeling intensified when his nerves from the encounter thus far caused him to fail. Ultimately, the accumulation of the ruse, the confrontation about DUS, and the polygraph exam rendered Appellant to reasonably feel that he did not have the right to refuse consent. Therefore, Appellant did not give voluntary consent to search the cellphones.

II. THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO EXCLUDE FROM EVIDENCE PHOTOGRAPHS WHICH WERE NOT RELEVANT TO THE CASE, AND WHOSE PREJUDICIAL EFFECT SUBSTANTIALLY OUTWEIGHED ANY PROBATIVE VALUE THEY OFFERED.

The court erred when it allowed the State to introduce into evidence, over Appellant's objections, photographs which depicted cash and Co-defendant Gadsden holding cash. *See* State's Exhibits 47-51, 56-64. The photographs were not relevant to the case, and therefore were not admissible. *See* Rule 402, SCRE. Rule 403 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence states "Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. . . ." The court improperly failed to exclude the photographs based upon their relevancy or their prejudicial effect.

**1. The photographs admitted into evidence were not relevant to the case and should have been excluded.**

The State failed to establish the relevance of the photographs offered into evidence which depicted a large amount cash and Co-defendant Gadsden holding the cash. The State failed to show any connection between the photographs and the robbery in question. The best evidence that the State could offer to connect the two was that the pictures somehow were taken shortly after the robbery. However, the State failed to show that the cash in the photographs was connected to the robbery. Additionally, the State failed to demonstrate how the pictures are in any way probative of Appellant's or Gadsden's involvement in the crime. The photographs were not connected to the robbery, and therefore did not tend to show that Appellant was involved in the crime.

The South Carolina Supreme Court stated, “Evidence is relevant and admissible if it tends to establish or make more or less probable the matter in controversy.” *State v. Wiles*, 383 S.C. 151, 157-58, 679 S.E.2d 172, 175-76 (2009) (citing Rule 401, SCRE and Rule 402, SCRE). In this case, the State failed to show evidence which connected the photographs to the robbery. Therefore, they did not tend to establish or make more or less probable the matter in controversy. Therefore, the photographs were not relevant, and consequently not admissible, and the court should have properly excluded the photographs. *See* Rule 402, SCRE.

**2. The photographs’ prejudicial effect substantially outweighed their probative value, and they should have been excluded.**

Even if the photographs were relevant to the case, the court should have excluded them based on their minor probative value and substantial prejudicial effect against Appellant. According to the rules of evidence, the court may exclude evidence when its prejudicial effect substantially outweighs its probative value. *See* Rule 403, SCRE.

The State failed to establish that the photographs were connected to the crime. Additionally, the State’s photographs failed to demonstrate the guilt of Appellant or his co-defendant. The State failed to show that the photographs tended to establish or make more or less probable the matter in controversy. Therefore, even if the photographs were somehow relevant to the case, their probative value was very low.

More importantly, the photographs had a prejudicial effect against Appellant. Several of the photographs showed Gadsden, a young black male, holding a stack of currency. These photographs were unnecessarily inflammatory in a trial which involved stolen cash and a black suspect. Rather than establish a connection between the cash in the

photographs and the stolen money, the State introduced the photographs knowing that they would arouse the prejudices of the jury. The Court allowed the State to introduce these photographs over Appellant's arguments that the State was introducing the photographs to prejudice the jury. (Tr. Trans., p. 447, lines 3-5).

In fact, the photographs were highly prejudicial to Appellant. These photographs helped to turn the jury against Appellant, despite their insignificant or even nonexistent probative value. The prejudicial effect of the photographs substantially outweighed their probative value and thus they should have been excluded from evidence at trial.

III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT WHEN THE STATE FAILED TO PROVIDE DIRECT EVIDENCE OR SUBSTANTIAL CIRCUMSTANTIAL EVIDENCE WHICH TENDED TO PROVE THE GUILT OF APPELLANT.

According to the *State v. Rothschild*, a defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the State fails to produce substantial circumstantial evidence that the defendant committed a particular crime. 351 S.C. 238, 243, 569 S.E.2d 346, 348. Additionally, a defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the evidence merely raises a suspicion that the defendant is guilty. *State v. Schrock*, 283 S.C. 129, 132, 322 S.E.2d 450, 451-52 (1984). In this case, the State failed to produce direct or substantial circumstantial evidence which indicated the guilt of Appellant. At best the State's evidence portrayed Appellant's behavior as suspicious. According to *State v. Logan*, a proof involving circumstantial evidence has failed if it merely portrays Appellant's behavior as suspicious. 405 S.C. 83, 99, 747 S.E.2d 444, 452 (2013). Therefore, the evidence against Appellant did not tend to prove his guilt, and the Court should have directed a verdict in favor of Appellant.

**1. The State failed to show any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence which reasonably proved the guilt of Appellant.**

The State did not produce any direct evidence which reasonably proves the guilt of Appellant. Additionally, the State failed to produce any substantial circumstantial evidence which proves the guilt of Appellant. According to *State v. Pinckney*, the State must produce direct or *substantial* circumstantial evidence showing the guilt of the accused in order to submit the case to a jury. 339 S.C. 346, 349, 529 S.E.2d 526, 527 (2000). Otherwise Appellant is entitled to a directed verdict in his favor from the court.

The State claimed that the robbery was an inside job planned and enacted by Appellant White and his Co-defendant Gadsden. However, the only evidence which supported this theory was a white and green washcloth which was caught in one of the front doors when the police arrived. The State claimed that White propped the door open with the washcloth so that the robber could gain entry to the building. However, one window pane on the front door had also been broken, which suggested that the robber broke in on his own. If the robber had planned on having the door propped open, there would be no need to attempt to break in through the window. Additionally, Appellant was working in the kitchen when the robber arrived, and had not left the kitchen for quite some time. It was not a usual practice for the cloth to prop open the front door at night while the restaurant was being cleaned. Grady Pugh, Appellant's co-worker, said that Appellant had been in the kitchen washing dishes with Pugh, and had not left the kitchen area since the restaurant closed. When police arrived, Appellant was on the floor in the kitchen alongside Pugh, and neither of them had moved since the robber told them to get on the ground. Therefore, Appellant could not have propped the door open because he never left the kitchen in order to place the washcloth. Pugh's testimony placed Appellant away from the entranceway before the robbery.

The State's evidence failed to show that Appellant was guilty. The State was unable to show direct evidence that Appellant committed the crimes for which he was charged. Additionally, the State did not produce substantial circumstantial evidence which indicated Appellant's guilt.

**2. The State's evidence only raised a suspicion that Appellant was guilty.**

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