ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY

Court of General Sessions

The Honorable James R. Barber, III, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-001302

RECEIVED

NOV 21 2017

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JAMES DAMON LANAR WHITE,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

V. HENRY GUNTER, JR.
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III.
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 East North Street, Suite 325
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 467-8282

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion to suppress evidence where Appellant freely and voluntarily consented to a search of both cell phones by law enforcement. Further, the search of the cell phones was valid where police officers obtained a valid search warrant.

Relevant Facts

Appellant made a pre-trial motion to suppress the evidence found on the cell phones in Appellant's possession. R. pp. 4-14. The trial judge held a hearing on the motion to suppress on April 11, 2016 in Greenville, South Carolina. Hearing R. pp. 1-141. In support of his motion to suppress, Appellant contended: 1) his consent to the search of the cell phones was involuntary, and 2) the search warrants obtained by law enforcement were constitutionally deficient.

At the hearing, Sergeant Motes testified Appellant's interview at the law enforcement center occurred in his office. Hearing R. p. 56. Sergeant Motes testified Victim was being treated as a victim witness of the crime and was not placed in handcuffs and was not threatened in any way. Hearing R. p. 56. Sergeant Motes stated that after Appellant provided investigators with his written statement about the robbery, Appellant was asked whether he had a telephone. Hearing R. p. 61. Sergeant Motes asked Appellant whether he could look at his cell phone and Appellant replied, "sure." Hearing R. p. 61. Sergeant Weiner then prepared a consent to search form. Hearing R. p. 61. Appellant then produced the Kyocera phone and stated that was his phone. Hearing R. p. 61. Sergeant Motes then asked Appellant whether he had anything else on his person and Appellant produced another cell phone and stated, "This is my old phone that I haven't used in a while."³ Hearing R. p. 63. Sergeant Motes then asked Appellant, "Is it okay if

³ Sergeant Motes testified he asked Appellant whether there was anything else on his person because Appellant agreed to take a polygraph test and investigators wanted to make sure nothing else was on his person before he entered the area where the test was administered. Hearing R. p. 64.

we use - - look at this phone as well?" Hearing R. p. 63. Appellant replied, "sure." Hearing R. p. 63. Sergeant Motes then added the second phone to the consent to search form. Hearing R. p. 63. Appellant subsequently signed a consent form. Sergeant Motes testified Appellant signed the consent form without displaying any reluctance whatsoever. Hearing R. p. 65.

Sergeant Weiner testified that when Appellant was brought down to the investigator's office, Appellant acted in a defensive manner. Hearing R. p. 109. Prior to Appellant's arrival at the police department, Sergeant Weiner looked up Appellant's DMV report and noticed that his driver's license was suspended.⁴ Hearing R. p. 121. Sergeant Weiner testified that when Appellant began acting defensively:

And so I just asked him, I said - - I wanted to kind of get the tone of how the rest of the day was going to go. I said, "Mr. White, how did you get here today?" And he told me he caught a ride. And I said, "Now, come on. You know we've got cameras up there." And he said, "All right, I drove." There was no threat of arrest, there was no insinuation he could be arrested. Driving under suspension is the absolute least of my worries. I'm not even a hundred percent sure I even said anything to him that his license was suspended. I just asked him, "How did you get here?" I just wanted to see if he was going to be truthful with us today with one question.

Hearing R. p. 109. Sergeant Weiner elaborated he wanted, "Just to get a feel for who he is and - - and what his intentions are while he's in our office. And to me, he displayed that he was there to lie." Hearing R. pp. 109-10.

Sergeant Weiner testified that Appellant was eventually arrested for driving under suspension because:

It became apparent after the polygraph, after calling that promoter, that Mr. White was being very untruthful, and I felt very convinced that he was involved with the inside portion of this armed robbery. And my hope was to - - we had a probable cause charge for driving under suspension to put him in jail, and then that would allow us the time without him fleeing or going somewhere for us to make this robbery case. But it took us a lot longer to actually make the case.

⁴ Sergeant Weiner testified he looked up the DMV report so he would know what Appellant looked like. Hearing R. p. 121.

Hearing R. p. 118.

When looking at the consent form signed by Appellant, Weiner noted that a portion of the consent form was written in a different ink and in different handwriting because part of the form was written by him and part was written by Sergeant Motes. Hearing R. p. 117. Weiner was concerned that the consent form would be susceptible to a defense argument that investigators added information to the form after the fact. Hearing R. p. 117. Sergeant Weiner then instructed Investigator Matthew Owens to get a search warrant because he didn't "like the way this consent form looks, it being in different ink and different handwriting." Hearing R. p. 117. Investigator Owens subsequently obtained a search warrant for the Samsung flip phone Appellant claimed was his "old phone." Hearing R. p. 94, R. pp. 38-41.

Discussion

Appellant contends the trial judge erred in denying his motion to suppress the evidence obtained in the search of the cell phones in his possession. Specifically, Appellant argues he did not voluntarily give consent to search the cellphones in his possession because law enforcement asked Appellant whether he was driving under suspension at the time he arrived at the law enforcement center. On the contrary, Appellant's consent to search the cell phones was obtained voluntarily. While Sergeant Weiner asked Appellant whether he drove himself to the interview, that question was designed to ascertain whether Appellant was going to be truthful with investigators and was not accompanied with any threats or insinuations that Appellant could be arrested. Furthermore, the police later obtained a valid search warrant for the cell phones, thus rendering Appellant's prior consent moot.

The Fourth Amendment prohibits unreasonable searches and seizures. U.S. Const. amend. IV. For purposes of the Fourth Amendment, a search occurs when "an expectation of

privacy that society is prepared to consider reasonable is infringed.” United States v. Jacobsen, 466 U.S. 109, 113 (1984). Generally speaking, any evidence seized as the result of an unreasonable search and seizure must be excluded from trial. State v. Weaver, 374 S.C. 313, 319, 649 S.E.2d 479, 482 (2007). The well-settled rule is warrantless searches are unreasonable per se unless they fall under an exception to the Fourth Amendment’s warrant requirement. State v. Peters, 271 S.C. 498, 501, 248 S.E.2d 475, 476 (1978). However, “warrantless searches are allowed when the circumstances make it reasonable, within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment, to dispense with the warrant requirement.” Kentucky v. King, 563 U.S. 452, 462 (2011).

South Carolina courts have recognized several exceptions to the warrant requirement, including: (1) the search incident to lawful arrest exception; (2) the hot pursuit exception; (3) the stop and frisk exception; (4) the automobile exception; (5) the plain view exception; (6) the consent exception; and (7) the abandonment exception. State v. Brown, 401 S.C. 82, 89, 736 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2012). Pursuant to the various accepted exceptions to the warrant requirement, a warrantless search or seizure will generally withstand constitutional scrutiny so long as the circumstances establish the existence of an exception along with the existence of probable cause. State v. Bultron, 318 S.C. 323, 331-332, 457 S.E.2d 616, 621 (Ct. App. 1995).

One of the recognized exceptions to the warrant requirement is the consent exception. See Birchfield v. North Dakota, ___ U.S. ___, 136 S. Ct. 2160, 2185 (2016) (“It is well established that a search is reasonable when the subject consents[.]”). Pursuant to the consent exception, an officer can validly conduct a warrantless search of a constitutionally-protected area when he or she receives consent from an individual with authority or apparent authority to grant such consent and the consent is provided freely and voluntarily. See State v. Adams, 377 S.C. 334,

339, 659 S.E.2d 272, 275 (Ct. App. 2008) (holding warrantless searches and seizures are constitutionally permissible when conducted under the authority of voluntary consent); see also State v. Laux, 344 S.C. 374, 377, 544 S.E.2d 276, 277 (2001) (recognizing consent may be valid if the person granting consent reasonably appeared to have the apparent authority to grant the consent). Factors to consider when determining whether consent was validly provided include the characteristics of the individual providing consent, which include the individual's age, maturity, education, intelligence, and experience, and the conditions under which the consent was granted, which include the conduct of the officer asking for consent, the number of officers present, and the duration of the encounter. United States v. Boone, 245 F.3d 352, 361-362 (4th Cir. 2001). The State bears the burden of establishing the voluntariness of consent, and the issue of whether consent was freely and voluntarily given is a question of fact to be determined from the totality of the circumstances. State v. Pichardo, 367 S.C. 84, 105, 623 S.E.2d 840, 851 (Ct. App. 2005)

In Appellant's case, the evidence presented during the suppression hearing established that, under the totality of the circumstances, Appellant's consent was freely and voluntarily given. While Appellant presented no testimony or evidence that the consent was anything but voluntary, the State presented significant evidence that Appellant's consent was voluntarily given. Sergeant Weiner testified he looked up Appellant's DMV record for the simple reason of verifying his appearance. When Appellant arrived at the police station, Sergeant Weiner simply asked him whether he drove himself to the interview in order to deduce whether Appellant was going to be forthcoming and honest with investigators. Investigators did not make any threats, either express or implied, that they would arrest Appellant for driving under suspension if he refused to consent to the search of the cell phones in his possession. Appellant did not express

any reservations whatsoever in consenting to the search of the cell phones. Instead, Sergeant Motes offered un rebutted testimony that Appellant signed the consent to search form without any reluctance. While Appellant contends the officer's mention of the fact that he drove himself to the police station led him to believe he did not have the right to refuse consent, the record is devoid of any such impression on Appellant's part. Further, there is no evidence in the record that Appellant even knew his license had been suspended. Appellant did not testify at the suppression hearing, nor did he testify at trial. Instead, the only evidence before the court firmly established that Appellant's consent was freely and voluntarily given.

Appellant's comparison of the current case to Bumper v. North Carolina, 391 U.S. 543 (1968), is inapposite. In Bumper, law enforcement officers went to the home of the defendant's grandmother and informed her they had a warrant to search the home. Id. at 546. The defendant's grandmother subsequently let officers enter the home, where they found a rifle used in the crime. Id. During the suppression hearing, the prosecutor argued that the State did not rely upon a valid warrant for the search, but instead on the consent of the defendant's grandmother. Id. The United States Supreme Court found the consent to not be valid, finding, "When a law enforcement officer claims authority to search a home under a warrant, he announces in effect that the occupant has no right to resist the search. The situation is instinct with coercion—albeit colorably lawful coercion. Where there is coercion there cannot be consent." Id. at 551. The factual circumstances of Bumper are immediately distinguishable from Appellant's case. While Appellant contends the two cases are alike because consent to search was induced by deceptive law enforcement practices, this argument fails to recognize the key distinctions between Bumper and Appellant's case. The law enforcement officers in Bumper deliberately deceived the homeowner by saying they had a search warrant. There was no such deception in Appellant's

case. Instead, Sergeant Weiner asked Appellant whether he drove himself to the interview because he wanted to ascertain whether Appellant was trustworthy. Sergeant Weiner's question was not coercive in nature, nor was it designed to trick Appellant into thinking law enforcement would gain access to his cell phone regardless of whether he consented. It defies reason to assume Appellant handed over evidence implicating him in an armed robbery simply because he feared being charged with driving under suspension, especially where there is no evidence of this alleged fear.

Finally, even if the trial judge somehow erred in finding Appellant's consent to search was voluntarily given, this court should affirm the judgment below because law enforcement obtained a valid warrant. While the trial judge's ruling focused on Appellant's voluntary consent, this Court can affirm the trial judge's ruling on any ground appearing in the record. See Rule 220(c), SCACR ("The appellate court may affirm any ruling, order, decision or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal."). As a precautionary matter, law enforcement obtained a search warrant for the cell phones at issue. That search warrant was based on sufficient probable cause. Because law enforcement obtained a valid search warrant, the incriminating photographs on the phones would have been inevitably discovered and later admitted at trial, regardless of whether Appellant gave consent. See Nix v. Williams, 467 U.S. 431, 447 (1984) ("Fairness can be assured by placing the State and the accused in the same positions they would have been in had the impermissible conduct not taken place. However, if the government can prove that the evidence would have been admitted regardless of any overreaching by the police, there is no rational basis to keep that evidence from the jury in order to ensure the fairness of the trial proceedings. In that situation, the State has gained no advantage and the defendant has suffered no prejudice. Indeed, suppression of the evidence

would operate to undermine the adversary system by putting the State in a worse position than it would have occupied without any police misconduct.”). Therefore, application of the exclusionary rule to Appellant’s case would not further the rule’s deterrent rationale and would serve no practical effect based on the circumstances of this case where, regardless of Appellant’s consent to search, the evidence would have inevitably discovered through the search warrant obtained by law enforcement. See Fitzpatrick v. State, 900 So. 2d 495, 514 (Fla. 2005) (“In this case, the police had initiated an investigation of Fitzpatrick prior to requesting a blood sample. The record reveals that the police considered Fitzpatrick a suspect prior to requesting a blood sample from him based on evidence that Fitzpatrick was the last person to be seen with Romines alive leaving Howard’s house at approximately midnight – three hours before she was found. Based on this evidence, requesting a blood sample from Fitzpatrick or obtaining it through a warrant would have been a normal investigative measure that would have occurred regardless of any police impropriety. Therefore, even if Fitzpatrick’s consent to the taking of his blood was involuntary, the error is harmless because the police had probable cause for a warrant requiring a blood sample, and the blood sample would have been inevitably obtained.”). Thus, under the circumstances, the discovery of the incriminating photographs on the cellphones in Appellant’s possession was plainly inevitable, regardless of whether Appellant consented to the search, as law enforcement also obtained a search warrant. Appellant’s conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

II.

The trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion by admitting photographs found on a cell phone in Appellant's possession depicting cash and his co-defendant holding large amounts of cash on the day after the robbery because those photographs were highly probative, and the evidence's high probative value was not substantially outweighed by any unfair prejudice that could have resulted from its admission.

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